OA 2.8.96

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

NOV 15 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

JEANIE H. MELBOURNE,  
Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 86,029

STATE OF FLORIDA,  
Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

---

On Discretionary Review Of  
Decision Of Florida Fifth District Court Of Appeal

---

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

TERRENCE E. KEHOE  
LAW OFFICES OF TERRENCE E. KEHOE  
Tinker Building  
18 West Pine Street  
Orlando, Florida 32801  
407-422-4147  
407-849-6059 (FAX)

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, JEANIE HEATON MELBOURNE, will be referred to as "Ms. Melbourne." The Respondent, State of Florida, will be referred to as the "state."

The record on appeal consists of 14 volumes. Volumes I - IV contain transcripts of hearings on pretrial motions. Volume V contains the sentencing transcript. Volumes VI - VIII contain copies of trial court pleadings, orders, and other documents. The last six volumes contain trial transcripts, also numbered I - VI.

References to the record on appeal will be to the volume number, followed by a slash, followed by the appropriate page number (\_\_\_/\_\_\_). The trial transcripts will be noted by T, followed by the applicable volume number, followed by a slash, followed by the appropriate page number (T\_\_\_/\_\_\_).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### **A. Proceedings Below**

On June 12, 1992, Ms. Melbourne was involved in a two car accident (VI/212-13). On October 29, 1992, the state filed a five count information charging her with DUI Manslaughter (Counts II and IV), Vehicular Homicide (Counts I and III), and DUI Serious Bodily Injury (Count V) (VI/207-11). There were numerous pretrial motions filed with hearings being held on some of them. Prior to the commencement of trial, the original presiding judge, Circuit Judge Richard F. Conrad, sua sponte issued an order of recusal (VII/465). The case was reassigned to Circuit Judge Michael F. Cycmanick who presided over the trial (VII/466). The trial court entered

judgments of acquittal at the close of the state's case-in-chief as to Counts I and III (VII/553; TVI/817). After a four day jury trial, the jury convicted Ms. Melbourne of Counts II, IV and V as charged (VIII/569-71; TVI/1031).

**B. Facts**

At the time of the accident, Jeanie Melbourne was a 52 year old with no prior criminal record (VIII/654). Ms. Melbourne was a "safe driver" with no prior traffic tickets on her driver's license record. On June 12, 1992, she ate dinner at the Boston Lobster Feast in Orlando (TV/929). At approximately 11:15 p.m., she left the restaurant alone and proceeded down Sand Lake Road (TV/931). It was a dark night and it had been raining (TIV/634-35; TII/504). The roads were wet (TIV/635; TIII/503). Ms. Melbourne stopped at the traffic light at the intersection of Winegard and Sand Lake Roads (TV/931). At about this time, a second vehicle, containing Mr. Fallejo (Count II), Mr. Astillero (Count IV), and Mr. and Mrs. Bryant (Count V), was heading in the opposite direction on Sand Lake Road (TII/317-19). Mr. Fallejo and Mr. Astillero had just picked up the Bryants from the airport after they flew in from California (TII/311-12). The Fallejo vehicle was travelling at least 55 mph (TII/318; TIV/635). Ms. Melbourne made a left hand turn onto Winegard Road and the Fallejo vehicle crashed into the side of her automobile (TV/931). As a result of the crash, both Mr. Astillero and Mr. Fallejo died (TIV/762-63, 769). Ms. Bryant suffered a fracture of her elbow and pelvis (TIII/422).



The scene after the accident was chaotic. Trooper Matthews of the Florida Highway Patrol arrived, but did not believe that a death was involved, and therefore did not contact a traffic homicide investigator (TIV/636-37). The net result of this was that very little investigation as to the cause of the accident was developed that evening (TIV/628-41). It was not until the next day that Trooper Hoops went to the location of the accident and attempted to reconstruct and develop a causation theory (TIII/523-24). Causation was a great subject of debate during the trial. Ms. Melbourne testified that the Fallejo vehicle came out of nowhere (speeding) and struck her automobile unexpectedly (TV/931).

As to the other element of the state's charges, blood alcohol evidence was presented to the jury (TIV/681, 734). After Ms. Melbourne was transferred to Sand Lake Hospital, the doctor ordered that blood be drawn to determine among other things, blood alcohol content (TIV/649). This "medical blood" was drawn at approximately 1:05 a.m. and registered .22 (TIV/656, 734). The validity of this .22 reading was hotly debated during the trial, and the state's own witness stated that it was inaccurate (scientific reliability) and could be as low as .17 (TIV/798-99). Ms. Melbourne presented an expert on blood toxicology, who testified that this medical blood reading was not scientifically reliable and if reliable could be as low as .16 (TV/867). Legal blood was drawn at the direction of Trooper Matthews approximately 3 hours and 16 minutes after the accident occurred (TIV/658-60). The laboratory analysis on this specimen of blood showed a .12 blood alcohol content reading

(TIV/680). Ms. Melbourne presented expert, retrograde extrapolation testimony showing that based upon her stomach contents, her true blood alcohol reading at the time of the accident was .023 to .048 (TV/874). Ms. Melbourne's blood toxicologist tested the second vial of the "legal blood" evidence, which revealed a blood alcohol reading of .06, versus the state's reading of .12 (TV/833). No facet of the state's case against Ms. Melbourne was uncontested.

### **C. Sentencing**

Ms. Melbourne was sentenced on May 5, 1993 (V/164-205). Over 41 members of the community wrote letters on Ms. Melbourne's behalf and were present at her sentencing hearing (V/179; VIII/571-637). Of the 40 plus persons who were present at the hearing, five testified as to Ms. Melbourne's good character (V/180-85). The decedents' family members testified and asked the court not to grant Ms. Melbourne mercy or leniency (V/189-95). The court granted over objection the state's motion to score 21 points for severe victim injury (Count V), which bumped Ms. Melbourne's sentencing category one cell. The trial court sentenced Ms. Melbourne to 12 years in the Department of Corrections on Counts II and IV and five years on Count V, all to run concurrently (V/198; VIII/659-65). Ms. Melbourne had no prior criminal record and was granted bond on appeal (VIII/672). A timely notice of appeal was filed (VIII/666).

#### D. Fifth District

Ms. Melbourne's appeal was dismissed for failure to timely file her initial brief. Melbourne v. State, 633 So.2d 1093 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). This Court denied discretionary review, Melbourne v. State, 637 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1994), and a petition for writ of mandamus to reinstate the appeal, Melbourne v. District Court of Appeal, 637 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1994). The Fifth District reinstated the appeal on a petition for writ of habeas corpus. Melbourne v. State, 635 So.2d 163 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). Ms. Melbourne's supersedeas bond was also reinstated.

Ms. Melbourne raised ten points on appeal to the Fifth District. On April 21, 1995, the Fifth District issued an opinion addressing three of the points. Melbourne v. State, 655 So.2d 126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (App. A). First, the court ruled that there was an adequate inquiry into the reasons behind the state's peremptory strike of a black venireman. Id. at 127-28. Second, the Fifth District ruled that while the trial court erred in not striking one juror for cause, it did not err in failing to strike a second juror for cause. Because the trial court awarded the defense one additional peremptory challenge, the Fifth District ruled that no reversible error occurred. Id. at 128. Third, the court ruled that Ms. Melbourne's multiple convictions would be upheld because three separate offenses occurred. Id. at 129. Chief Judge Harris dissented on the multiple convictions issue. Based primarily on Boutwell v. State, 631 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 1994), Chief Judge Harris

would have vacated the convictions and sentences on Counts IV and V. Id. at 129-32.

Ms. Melbourne filed a motion for rehearing or certification to the Florida Supreme Court. The Fifth District issued a corrected opinion, which eliminated the reference to Ms. Munyon as a clerk (App. B).<sup>1</sup> Although the corrected opinion was also dated April 21, 1995, it was not released until on or about May 31, 1995. By order dated June 1, 1995, the Fifth District denied the motion for rehearing or certification, in light of the corrected opinion.

On June 19, 1995, Ms. Melbourne filed her notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. A motion to stay was filed in the Fifth District and denied. A motion to stay was filed in this Court and denied. The trial court then revoked Ms. Melbourne's supersedeas bond and she is presently incarcerated in the Florida Department of Corrections.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

##### I.

**TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT  
A BATSON/JOHANS INQUIRY WHEN AN OBJECTION  
WAS RAISED TO THE STATE ILLEGALLY EXERCISING  
A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE AGAINST A BLACK VENIRE PERSON**

The state struck a black venire person. Under State v. Johans, 613 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1993), a hearing is mandated once an objection is made. Despite a Batson objection and a request for a

---

<sup>1</sup> It must be noted that the opinion printed in the advance sheets of the Southern Reporter is the first, not the corrected, opinion (compare App. A and B). Undersigned counsel has advised the Fifth District of this. It may be corrected when the hardbound volume is issued.

Johans hearing being made, the trial court failed to hold such a hearing. Therefore, this case must be reversed for a new trial.

II.

**JUDGMENTS ON COUNTS IV AND V MUST  
BE VACATED DUE TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION**

There was only one act of driving while under the influence of alcoholic beverages involved in this case, which act resulted in two deaths and one bodily injury. Applying the rationale of Boutwell v. State, 631 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 1994), there can be only one conviction arising out of this case. Therefore, the convictions on Count IV and V violate double jeopardy and must be vacated.

III.

**SCRIVENER'S ERROR REQUIRES JUDGMENT BE CORRECTED**

The case must be remanded for correction of a scrivener's error. The judgment erroneously reflects three convictions under § 877.111, Fla. Stat.

**ARGUMENTS**

I.

**TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT  
A BATSON/JOHANS INQUIRY WHEN AN OBJECTION  
WAS RAISED TO THE STATE ILLEGALLY EXERCISING  
A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE AGAINST A BLACK VENIRE PERSON**

During the jury selection process, the state improperly used one of its peremptory challenges to exclude a black juror. The following recitation contains the entire record colloquy on this issue. As can be seen below, the failure of the trial court to

require this state to provide any explanations as to the exclusion of this venireman warrants a new trial.

Mr. Bressler: We'd also strike number 19, your honor.  
(state)

Mr. Mason: Mr. Dewey Wells, the black man, I would raise a Baxter<sup>2</sup> Johans challenge, J O H A N S. He's a black man, number 19.

Ms. Munyon: The state has not stricken any black jurors at all. The defense has stricken number ten, Tillman, as well as juror number 13, which are black.

The state accepted both of those jurors.

Mr. Bressler: Kelvin McCall was a black juror that the defense struck.

Mr. Mason: I have nothing else to say.

The Court: Well, I don't see anything in this record to indicate that there's any -- that the state in exercising this challenge to a black person is in any way acting in a discriminatory fashion, or singling out Mr. Wells because of his race in its exercise of peremptory challenge.

The record should reflect that the defense has excused (sic) two peremptory challenges to excuse black males and exercised its exercise of the --. (TII/269-70).

It should be noted that Ms. Melbourne's trial began on March 31, 1993, some 41 days after this Court issued its opinion in State v. Johans, 613 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1993).

#### **B. Introduction - Neil Legal Standard**

This Court has held that Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution is violated when the state discriminatorily exercises a peremptory challenge to strike a member of a cognizable racial

---

<sup>2</sup> This is a stenographical error. Counsel was referring to Batson v. Kentucky, infra.

group. State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481, 486 (Fla. 1984), clarified, State v. Castillo, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986). Equal protection under the law is violated when the state or the defense discriminatorily exercises a peremptory challenge to a venireman. Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 112 S.Ct. 2348, 120 L.Ed.2d 33 (1992); Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 1719, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986); State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 21 (Fla.), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219 (1988); State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984). See also, Art. I, § 2, Fla. Const.; Amend. V and XIV, U.S. Const. The accused/complaining party need not be of the same racial makeup as the venireman stricken. Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 1373, 113 L.Ed.2d 411 (1991); Kibler v. State, 546 So.2d 710, 712 (Fla. 1989).

**C. Law of Johans - Inquiry Mandated Upon Objection**

On February 18, 1993, this Court issued its opinion in State v. Johans, 613 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1993). The Court, in response to a deluge of cases interpreting whether the defense had satisfied its initial burden under Neil, supra, decided that this prong of the Neil standard should be modified.

Rather than wait for the law in this area to be clarified on a case-by-case basis, we find it appropriate to establish a procedure that gives clear and certain guidance to the trial courts in dealing with peremptory challenges. Accordingly, we hold that from this time forward a Neil inquiry is required when an objection is raised that a peremptory challenge is being used in a racially discriminatory manner. We recede from Neil and its progeny to the extent that they are inconsistent with this holding.

Id. at 1321.

This Court reiterated in Valentine v. State, 616 So.2d 971 (Fla. 1993), that the accused no longer has the initial burden to show that the state is exercising its peremptory challenges in a discriminatory manner. A Neil inquiry is automatically required once the accused objects and points out that the party being peremptorily stricken by the state is a member of a distinct racial group.

To give this rule effect and minimize the risk of reversal, we recently held in State v. Johans, 613 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1993), that once a party makes a timely objection and demonstrates on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group, the trial court must conduct a routine inquiry.

Id. at 974. Although the trial court in this case had the benefit of the Johans opinion, no inquiry was made of the state as to its peremptory strike of black venireman Wells.

In its opinion, the Fifth District misconstrued the law and the record when it found that the trial court did conduct a Neil inquiry (App. A, p. 2). A Neil inquiry requires the trial court to inquire of the party making the challenge as to a non-racial reason for the challenge. See State v. Johans, 613 So.2d 1319, 1321 (Fla. 1993) (trial court must conduct Neil inquiry; burden is on party exercising peremptory challenge to provide a race-neutral justification); Reynolds v. State, 576 So.2d 1300, 1301 (Fla. 1991) (trial court must inquire of state; state must provide reason for strike; trial court must evaluate reason provided by state); State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla.), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219 (1988) ("Neil imposes upon the other party an obligation to rebut the inference created when defense met its initial burden of



persuasion. This rebuttal must consist of a 'clear and reasonably specific' racially neutral explanation of 'legitimate reasons' for the state's use of its peremptory challenge."); Stroud v. State, 656 So.2d 195 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (failure to provide non-racial reasons for strike required reversal); Jones v. State, 640 So.2d 1161, 1163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (state obligated to provide racially neutral explanation for strike).

**D. State's Burden To Show Non-Discriminatory Reasons For Peremptory Challenges**

Once it is determined that the accused has made a Johans objection, the burden automatically shifts to the state to provide non-discriminatory reasons for its peremptory challenge which must be supported by the record. In response to the trial court's inquiry, the state's "rebuttal must consist of a 'clear and reasonably specific' racially neutral explanation of 'legitimate reasons'" for its challenges. State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1988), citing Batson v. Kentucky, 106 S.Ct. at 1722-24, n. 20. It is the trial court's obligation to evaluate not only the credibility of the state's response, but the credibility of the state's representative. Slappy, 522 So.2d at 22. The trial court cannot sustain the peremptory challenge unless it concludes based upon record support that the reasons offered are: (1) neutral and reasonable; and (2) are not a pretext. Id. The record must support the state's reasons for the strike. Id. Factors which the court should consider in deciding if the state's reasons are not neutral are:

(1) alleged group bias not shown to be shared by the juror in question, (2) failure to examine the juror or perfunctory examination, assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the juror, (3) singling the juror out for special questioning designed to evoke a certain response, (4) the prosecutor's reason is unrelated to the facts of the case, and (5) a challenge based on reasons equally applicable to jurors who were not challenged.

Id. at 22.

The underlying rationale for requiring a full and thorough inquiry is that prejudice and discrimination evince themselves in subtle forms.

Nor is outright prevarication ... the only danger here "[I]t is even possible that an attorney may lie to himself in an effort to convince himself that his motives are legal." .. A prosecutor's own conscious or unconscious racism may lead him easily to the conclusion that a prospective black juror is "sullen," or "distant," a characterization that would not have come to his mind if a white juror had acted identically. A judge's own conscious or unconscious racism may lead him to accept such an explanation as well supported. ... [P]rosecutors' peremptories are based on their "seat-of-the-pants instincts." ... Yet "seat-of-the-pants instincts" may often be just another term for racial prejudice. Even if all parties approach the Court's mandate with the best of conscious intentions, that mandate requires them to confront and overcome their own racism on all levels. ...

Id. at 22-23, quoting Batson v. Kentucky, 106 S.Ct. at 1728 (Marshall, J., concurring) (citations omitted). If the record does not support the state's reason for the strike or if the strike is a pretext, the challenge cannot be sustained.

In Melbourne, as argued above, the trial court did not make any inquiry of the state. Second, and most importantly, the state did not provide any lawful explanation for its strike. It provided absolutely no non-racial reason for the challenge. Instead, both Ms. Munyon and Mr. Bressler merely pointed out that defense counsel

had previously stricken black jurors. In other words, the prosecutors merely sought to justify their exclusion of Mr. Wells on the basis of the defense's prior exclusion of other blacks. Of course, prior exclusion of any other blacks by either party is irrelevant. Slappy, 522 So.2d at 21. If the striking party fails to provide a sufficient non-racial basis for the striking of any one juror, it matters not that other jurors were properly or improperly stricken.

**E. Facts Contained Within Melbourne Record Constitute Reversible Error**

During jury selection, defense counsel made a timely objection that the state had exercised a peremptory challenge to strike a black venireman in a racially discriminatory manner. At that point, it was incumbent upon the trial court to conduct a Slappy inquiry and determine if the state was illegally exercising its peremptory challenges. The mere fact that the accused had previously stricken a black venireman is irrelevant and no substitute for this court mandated inquiry. Slappy, 522 So.2d at 22.

The Fifth District bolstered its finding that an inquiry was conducted because the trial court issued a ruling (App. A, p. 3). Merely because the trial court issued a ruling does not mean that an adequate Neil inquiry was held. It merely means that the trial court chose to overlook the state's explicit Slappy burden and, despite the state's failure to articulate a non-racial reason for the challenge, merely upheld the challenge. It is apparent from this record that neither the state nor the trial court was aware of

the duty imposed upon it in the recent Florida Supreme Court decision of State v. Johans, 613 So.2d 1319, 1322 (Fla. 1993), much less prior cases such as Neil and Slappy.

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