FILED

SID A WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 21 1995

NEW ON

Y PXOPV

JEANIE H. MELBOURNE,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 86,029

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA
FIFTH DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #618550
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT 1</u>: The instant claim was waived below by failure to properly object. Even if the claim is preserved, a sufficient inquiry was conducted as found by the district court. Error, if, any, should be found harmless where the record affirmatively demonstrates a lack of prejudice

POINT 2: Melbourne's multiple convictions are appropriate. Legislative history and precedent demonstrate an intent for separate convictions for each count of DUI manslaughter and each count of DUI with serious bodily injury.

<u>POINT 3</u>: The information filed in circuit court specifically charged Melbourne with violating §877.111, Florida Statute (1991). The verdict slips all reflect a finding of guilty as charged to each count. Consequently, judgment was properly entered.

POINT 1

THE CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO CONDUCT A PROPER INQUIRY WHEN THE STATE EXERCISED A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE WAS WAIVED BELOW; ERROR DID NOT OCCUR.

Melbourne claims that the trial court erred in failing to conduct a Batson/Johans inquiry when an objection was raised to the state illegally exercising a peremptory challenge against a black venire person. Respondent first contends that this claim is not cognizable because it was waived below. A review of the colloguy between the judge, the prosecutor and defense counsel concludes with defense counsel stating "I have nothing else to say". As the district court noted, Melbourne did not contend below that the reason offered by the prosecution was insufficient. Melbourne v. State, 655 So. 2d 126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). record likewise reflects that Melbourne did not raise any further objection at any time prior to the jury being sworn, nor was there any objection to the jury as composed. Thus, the issue was not preserved for review. Joiner v. State, 618 So. 2d 174, 176 (Fla. 1993) ("[w]ere we to hold otherwise, Joiner could proceed to trial before a jury he unqualifiedly accepted, knowing that in the event of an unfavorable verdict, he would hold a trump card entitling him to a new trial"). See also, Floyd v. State, 569 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 1990) (once state has proffered facially race neutral reason, defendant who contests factual existence must place court

¹Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986); State v. Johans, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993).

on notice). Respondent submits that the defendant must bear some burden other than covertly injecting error or simply allowing error to occur, where there is no discernible prejudice apparent from the fact of the record.

Respondent next contends that the claim was not preserved due to failure to make a specific enough objection. In State v. Johans, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993), this court held that a Neil² inquiry is required when an objection is raised that a peremptory challenge is being used in a racially discriminatory manner. The objection in the instant case was limited to "Mr. Dewey Wells, the black man, I would raise a Baxter Johans challenge, JOHANS. He's a black man, number 19." (R 269). Respondent contends that this was not sufficient to trigger an inquiry.

In this respect, respondent would first point out that several district courts interpret the language of Johans as still requiring a fact supported inference that the peremptory challenge is being used in a racially discriminatory manner. Cruz v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2169 (Fla. 3d DCA September 20, 1995) (the objecting party must make a timely objection and create a fact supported inference that a peremptory challenge is being used in a racially discriminatory manner); Portu v. State, 651 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (the presumption in Florida is that peremptories will be exercised in a nondiscriminatory manner, and the initial burden was on the state to create the inference that

²State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984).

defense counsel's peremptory challenge was made for racially discriminatory reasons); Barquin v. State, 654 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (state merely requested Neil inquiry without alleging challenge was in any way discriminatory); Betancourt v. State, 650 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (party's discretion in exercising peremptory challenge may only be challenged and reasonable basis for strike may only be required when it rationally may be determined that the juror's status is the reason for the challenge); Stroud v. State, 656 So. 2d 195 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (once a trial judge is satisfied that a complaining party's objection was proper, the other party must give a legitimate reason for the use of a peremptory); Jones v. State, 640 So. 2d 1161 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (we find that the defense met its initial burden of showing that the strikes were racially based, thereby requiring a hearing in accordance with Johans).

Under the reasoning of these cases, simply stating that the prospective juror was a black man and that a challenge was being made, with no additional factual basis, was not enough to trigger an inquiry. The courts of this state have long recognized a presumption that peremptories will be exercised nondiscriminatory manner. A holding that a bare bones objection such as the one in the instant case is sufficient to trigger an inquiry not only obliterates that long recognized presumption, it actually creates a complete opposite one: that peremptories are being exercised in a racially discriminatory manner, so an inquiry must be held any time a prospective juror of a potentially suspect

class is challenged.

Even if this court determines that the claim is preserved, respondent contends, as the district court found, sufficient Neil inquiry was conducted. As this court has recognized, an appellate court must rely primarily on the inherent fairness and color blindness of the trial judges to see that peremptories are not exercised to mask improper motives or bias. Reed v. State, 560 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1990). In the instant case, the prosecutors specifically stated that the peremptory was not being exercised because of race, and noted that the state had accepted three black jurors, whereas the defense had stricken two Further, the voir dire in this case was not black jurors. lengthy, and the record demonstrates that the trial court was well aware of which prospective jurors may be challenged because of experience with driving under the influence, alcohol, and even scheduling difficulties (R 263, 264, 268, 271). The record also demonstrates that the challenged juror's wife had died from alcohol, which certainly provides a race neutral reason for excusing a juror in a DUI manslaughter/serious bodily injury case. In fact, the record demonstrates that every prospective juror who a close family member or friend with alcohol problems or DUI problems was excused.3 Thus, the district court correctly

Hart, whose son was facing DUI charges was peremptorily excused; Walsh, who had an alcoholic father was excused for cause; Fann, whose friend was killed by a drunk driver was excused for cause; Ray, who was an alcoholic and had a DUI conviction was peremptorily stricken; Aldred, whose brother had a DUI conviction was peremptorily stricken; Davis, who had two friends killed was peremptorily stricken; Dickie, who had a DUI conviction was

determined that a sufficient inquiry was conducted, that the record contains a race neutral reason for the strike, and there was no abuse of discretion in excusing the juror.

Respondent further contends that where the prosecutor states that the peremptory was not exercised in a racially discriminatory manner, and the record demonstrates that the state has already accepted three black jurors, and the defense simply replies that it has nothing else to say, this constitutes a factually sufficient race neutral reason for the strike. In all other instances, the trial court, as fact finder and determiner of credibility, is permitted to simply believe a witness. For example, at a suppression hearing on a consent issue, one witness may testify there was consent, while the defendant may testify, with no other supporting facts, that he did not consent. trial, one witness may testify that the defendant struck him, while the defendant may testify that he did not. Based solely on the representations of the witnesses, the trial court may find as a matter of fact that there was no consent or that the defendant Likewise, in a case where the did not commit the crime. prosecutor states that the peremptory strike was not racially motivated, and there is no further objection from the defense, the trial court should be entitled to exercise its discretion based on the events before it and make a factual determination that the

stricken; Cslandi, whose friend's niece was killed, was peremptorily stricken; Grider, whose cousin was killed was excused for cause; Davis, who had been a witness to a DUI; and Wines, who dated and was beaten by an alcoholic was excused.

strike was not racially motivated.

Finally, respondent contends that even if the claim is preserved and this court determines that the inquiry was insufficient, this court should hold that in a case such as this, where it is clear from the face of the record that the peremptory challenge was not racially motivated and there has been no demonstration of prejudice, reversible error did not occur. demonstrated, the prosecution had accepted three black jurors. As also demonstrated, the challenged juror's wife died of alcoholism, which is certainly a race neutral reason for the strike, particularly where every other juror with a close friend or family member with an alcohol related problem was excused. Respondent acknowledges that this court has recognized the citizen's right to serve as a juror, but would point out in this case that the challenged juror was specifically asked if he wanted to serve, and merely replied "I will do what I have to do" (R 257). It is apparent from the face of the record that there was no prejudice, so the harmless error rule should be applicable. §924.33, Fla. Stat. (1993). The instant convictions should be affirmed.

POINT 2

MELBOURNE'S MULTIPLE CONVICTIONS FOR DUI MANSLAUGHTER AND DUI SERIOUS BODILY INJURY DO NOT VIOLATE THE PROHIBITION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

Melbourne contends that based on Boutwell v. State, 631 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 1994), her two convictions for DUI manslaughter and her conviction for DUI serious bodily injury violate the prohibition against double jeopardy. The district court held that she did not improperly receive multiple convictions for one incident of driving under the influence. Melbourne v. State, 655 So. 2d 126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). The Fourth District recently certified conflict with Melbourne.

Respondent contends that even assuming Boutwell, supra, was correctly decided, it is inapplicable to the instant case and Melbourne's multiple convictions are proper. In Boutwell, this court held that regardless of the number of injured persons, there can only be one conviction under section 322.34(3), Florida Statutes (driving with a suspended license and causing death or serious bodily injury) arising from a single accident. A review of the legislative history of the statutes at issue clearly demonstrates that the legislature intended separate convictions for each count of DUI manslaughter and each count of DUI with serious bodily injury.

DUI manslaughter has been a homicide crime in this state for years. See, Hauser v. State, 474 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1985). The 1985 statute specifically stated:

If the death if any human being is caused by the operation of a motor vehicle by any person while so intoxicated, such person shall be deemed guilty of manslaughter and on conviction shall be punished as provided by existing law relating to manslaughter.

§316.1931(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985). That same statute made it a third degree felony if an intoxicated person caused serious bodily injury to another **and** had a suspended or revoked license, was a habitual traffic offender, or had previously been convicted of a violation of that section. §316.1931(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1985).

That statute was repealed in 1986, and section 316.193, Florida Statutes, was substantially amended to include the aforementioned offenses. The new statute no longer required the additional elements of suspended license, habitual offender, or prior conviction for DUI with serious bodily injury, and created the specific crime of "DUI manslaughter". §316.193(3), Fla. Stat. (1987). It is beyond dispute that the DUI laws have gotten even tougher since that time, including the imposition of lower blood alcohol limits and stiffer penalties, along with mandatory adjudication for DUI offenses. §316.656, Fla. Stat. (1993). In 1988, the legislature amended section 775.021, Florida Statutes, to specifically state its intent to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode.

A review of judicial interpretation of these statutes demonstrates that DWI manslaughter has always been considered a homicide offense. *Hauser*, *supra*. As the district court recognized, this court has repeatedly reiterated its satisfaction

with Hauser. Melbourne at 129, citing, State v. Cooper, 634 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 1994)); Goodwin v. State, 634 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1994); State v. Chapman, 625 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1993); State v. Thompson, 607 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1992). Both the Second and Third Districts have upheld multiple convictions for DUI serious bodily injury where there were multiple victims. Pulaski v. State, 540 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 2d DCA), review denied, 547 So. 2d 1210 (Fla. 1989); Wright v. State, 592 So. 2d 1123 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), quashed, 600 So. 2d 457 (1992). In terms of general legislative intent, this court held in State v. Smith, 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989), that multiple punishments may be imposed for separate offenses even if only one act is involved, pursuant to section 775.021(4)(a), Florida Statutes.

Section 322.34(3), Florida Statutes, which imposes punishment for causing serious bodily injury while driving with a suspended or revoked license, was not even enacted until 1988. Ch. 88-381, \$69, Laws of Fla. Respondent contends that the legislature did not intend to undo years of manslaughter and DUI jurisprudence, providing for punishment for each victim as opposed to each driving incident, when it made it a crime to cause serious bodily injury when driving with a suspended license. It is an accepted rule of statutory construction that the legislature is presumed to know existing statutes and case law construing them, and that

⁴The *Boutwell* court noted that its disapproval of the *Wright* opinion was based solely on the district court's handling of a peremptory challenge issue.

it is presumed to be acquainted with judicial decisions on the subject concerning which it subsequently enacts a statute. Ford v. Wainwright, 451 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1984); Williams v. Christian, 335 So. 2d 358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). Thus, it would be more logical to presume that the legislature was familiar with the DUI statutes and jurisprudence, as well as its own expressed intent statute, when it enacted the suspended license serious bodily injury statute, and intended punishment for each victim. Contra, Boutwell, supra.

At a minimum, Boutwell is not applicable to the DUI statutes, which have remained in a separate section within the statutes. The fact that the legislature specifically labeled the crime of killing a person while operating a motor vehicle under the influence as "DUI manslaughter" indicates it fully intended such crime to remain within the scope of the state's regulation of homicide. Homicide statutes have always required separate punishment for each victim. For example, a person who commits one felony and in the course thereof kills any number of people is criminally liable for each death. Likewise, a person who gets behind the wheel of a car while under the influence and kills any number of people should be criminally liable for each death. Further, a person who gets behind the wheel of a car while under the influence and causes serious bodily injury to any number of people should be held responsible for each victim that person seriously injures. In this respect, respondent would point out that the legislature has defined serious bodily injury as "a

physical condition that creates a substantial risk of death, serious personal disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ." §316.193(3)(c), Fla. Stat. (1993); §316.1933(1), Fla. Stat. (1993). The drunk driver should not benefit where he "fortuitously" almost kills four people instead of actually killing only one.

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